OA 12-6-95 pt7

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CYNTHIA L. RUSSENBERGER,

n/k/a CYNTHIA L. STELTENKAMP)

Petitioner,

CASE NO: 85,743

1ST DCA CASE NO: 95-00804

VS.

RAY DEAN RUSSENBERGER,

Respondent.

Respondent.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

#### PETITIONER'S MERITS BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

E. JANE BREHANY, ESQUIRE MYRICK, DAVIS & BREHANY, P.A. 625 North Ninth Avenue Pensacola, FL 32501 (904) 433-0084 FLORIDA BAR NO: 715042

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER CYNTHIA L. RUSSENBERGER n/k/a CYNTHIA L. STELTENKAMP

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Cindy Steltenkamp and Ray Russenberger were married on July 31, 1976 in New Orleans, Louisiana. R-4:449. They have five children. The oldest child has reached the age of majority. The other children are now 16, 8, and 7.

The parties' marriage was dissolved on January 5, 1993 by a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage. The Final Judgment incorporated the parties' marital settlement agreement dated December 22, 1992. A copy of the final judgment is attached hereto as Exhibit "1". (A - 1). The marital settlement agreement provided as follows:

#### IV. Custody:

The Husband and Wife agree that it would be in the best interest of the children for the parties to have shared parental responsibility with the wife designated as residential custodian subject to liberal and reasonable rights of visitation by the Husband to include every other weekend and such other times as the parties can agree.

The settlement agreement did not contain a restriction prohibiting relocation.

The parties were separated for an extended period of time prior to execution of the settlement agreement. In August of 1987, Mrs. Steltenkamp and the children moved to Pensacola from Lafayette, Louisiana. R - 5: 591. Mr. Russenberger remained in Lafayette for eighteen months. R - 5: 591 - 592. After Mr.

Russenberger moved to Pensacola, the parties experienced marital difficulties and separated two or three times. Their final separation occurred in February of 1991. R - 5: 593 - 594. The parties were able to work out visitation during the separation periods. The first visitation problems voiced by Mr. Russenberger occurred when Mrs. Steltenkamp announced her decision to relocate.

During the marriage and during the separation, Mrs. Steltenkamp was primarily responsible for the day to day activities of all five children. Mr. Russenberger acknowledged that he had little involvement in the children's lives. D - 15: 20. The trial court's order denying Mrs. Steltenkamp's request to relocate provides that Mr. Russenberger became active in the lives of all five children after the parties' separation. The court found that Mr. Russenberger consistently exercised alternating weekend visitation with all five children, plus one day each week with at least the three younger children. A copy of this Order is attached hereto as Exhibit "2". (A - 2).

Mrs. Steltenkamp married Mike Steltenkamp on May 29, 1993. Mike Steltenkamp holds a Ph.D. in chemistry from Georgia Tech and is a scientist employed by Champion. R - 4: 430 - 431. Until January of 1993, Dr. Steltenkamp was based out of the Champion Pensacola office. In September of 1992, Dr. Steltenkamp accepted a transfer to New York as department leader responsible for

corporate research in the area of product development. R - 4: 434, 438. The Champion corporate offices are located in Stanford, Connecticut and the corporate research department is located in West Nyack, New York. R - 4: 433.

Dr. Steltenkamp and Cindy Russenberger purchased a home in Suffern, New York prior to their marriage. Dr. Steltenkamp moved into the home and Mrs. Steltenkamp and the children continued to live in Pensacola, Florida.

Both Mrs. Steltenkamp and Mr. Russenberger are well off financially. Mr. Russenberger's personal financial statement dated June 30, 1993 indicates a gross annual income of \$554,500. See Exhibit 23 of Respondent/Former Wife's Trial Exhibits. Mrs. Steltenkamp, with the payment of interest, child support, and lump sum alimony payments has a gross monthly income of \$21,908.00. See Exhibit 21 of Respondent/Former Wife's Trial Exhibits.

After deciding to marry, Mrs. Steltenkamp, through her attorney, informed her former husband that she intended to move to Suffern, New York with the children. In response, on April 5, 1993, Mr. Russenberger obtained a temporary injunction prohibiting the move. At the time of the temporary injunction hearing, Dr. Steltenkamp and Cindy Russenberger had not closed the sale of the Suffern home. In the temporary injunction order, the trial court indicated that Ms. Russenberger could proceed with the purchase of

the home. The final hearing consisted of three days of testimony. In addition, eighteen depositions were introduced into evidence. After hearing the testimony, the trial court granted Mr. Russenberger's request to modify the Final Judgment by imposing a restriction on relocation and enjoined Mrs. Steltenkamp from removing the children from the Pensacola area without court approval.

A timely appeal to the first district court of appeal The district court opinion reviews the trial court decision in light of Mize v. Mize, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993). first district pointed out that Mize relies upon both the Hill majority opinion and Judge Schwartz's Hill concurrence. By quoting Judge Schwartz's Hill concurrence, the first district concluded that <u>Mize</u> "appears to be endorsing the view that a request to leave the jurisdiction should presumptively be approved." Id. at 419. Next, the first district acknowledged that Mize also requires a review of the Hill six factor test. At that point, the first district stated that "when viewed as a whole, however, the combination of the six factor test and the language from the Hill concurring opinion seems internally contradictory." Id. at 213. After acknowledging these contradictions, the first district determined that Mize does not create a per se rule in favor of removal and determined that a trial court must permit relocation if

a review of the <u>Hill</u> factors shows that relocation will be in the best interests of the children. Next, finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion and that the <u>Hill</u> factors supported the trial court's decision, the appellate court affirmed the trial court's decision denying Mrs. Steltenkamp's request to leave the jurisdiction. This appeal timely followed.

References to the record will be identified as follows:

- R 1: Volume I, Final Hearing, December 13, 1993.
- R 2: Volume II, Final Hearing, December 13, 1993.
- R 3: Volume III, Final Hearing, December 14, 1993.
- R 4: Volume IV, Final Hearing, December 14, 1993.
- R 5: Volume V, Final Hearing, December 15, 1993.
- R 6: Volume VI, Final Hearing, December 15, 1993.
- R 7: August 5, 1993 hearing.
- R 8: July 13, 1993 hearing on Motion for Determination of Summer Visitation.
- R 9: March 17, 1993 hearing on Motion for Temporary Injunction.
- R 10: August 27, 1993 judge's ruling.
- D 11: Deposition of Mike Steltenkamp, March 31, 1993.
- D 12: Deposition of Mike Steltenkamp, July 16, 1993.
- D 13: Deposition of Cynthia L. Russenberger, May 6, 1993.
- D 14: Deposition of Cynthia L. Steltenkamp, August 3, 1993.
- D 15: Deposition of Ray Dean Russenberger, November 10, 1993.
- D 16: Deposition of Ray Dean Russenberger, July 7, 1993.
- D 17: Deposition of Tina Bessinger, Ph.D., July 27, 1993.
- D 18: Deposition of Michael DeMaria, Ph.D., November 23, 1993.
- D 19: Deposition of James Larson, Ph.D., August 16, 1993.
- D 20: Deposition of R. Scott Benson, M.D., August 17, 1993.
- D 21: Deposition of James Blasie, July 29, 1993.
- D 22: Deposition of Eugene Pettis, August 3, 1993.
- D 23: Deposition of Sister Kierstin Martin, August 2, 1993.
- D 24: Deposition of Marleen Feigenbaum, June 25, 1993.
- D 25: Deposition of Andrew Witt, August 17, 1993.
- D 26: Deposition of Joseph Biddy, July 29, 1993.

- D 27: Deposition of Guy Guccione, July 29, 1993.
   D 28: Deposition of Margot Bohlin, June 24, 1993.
- R 29: December 17, 1993, judge's ruling.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mrs. Steltenkamp proposes a new relocation standard that will result in uniformity and guidance throughout the state. Steltenkamp's proposal acknowledges the Mize presumption in favor of removal. With this presumption in mind, the trial court should review certain issues to fully evaluate the relocation request. First, the court should determine whether the custodial parent has a sincere, good faith reason for moving from the jurisdiction. the custodial parent cannot show a sincere, good faith reason for the requested relocation, the analysis should stop and the parent's removal request should be denied. If, however, the custodial parent is able to illustrate a sincere, good faith reason for the move, the court should next consider whether the move will negatively impact upon the best interests of the children. burden should be placed on the noncustodial parent to show a negative impact. Next, the court should consider whether the move will adversely affect the visitation rights of the noncustodial parent. This portion of the analysis should focus upon whether the children will suffer from the move, as opposed to whether visitation will simply be changed. It should be presumed changes in visitation will be necessary in the majority of cases.

When this test is applied to the facts of <u>Russenberger</u>, the evidence overwhelmingly supports a finding that Mrs. Steltenkamp should be permitted to move to New York to be reunited with her husband.

If the new test is not adopted, and this court continues to utilize the Hill six factor test, the evidence also supports a finding in favor of relocation. The trial court decision denying the relocation request is in error. A move to Suffern, New York will allow Mrs. Steltenkamp to be reunited with her husband. will allow Dr. and Mrs. Steltenkamp to establish a blended family environment. As long as the parties are willing to work together, a positive meaningful relationship can be fostered and maintained between Mr. Russenberger and the children. Mrs. Steltenkamp has indicated her willingness to encourage a positive relationship between Mr. Russenberger and the children, and under these circumstances, she should be permitted to move to Suffern, New The evidence overwhelmingly supports a conclusion that the York. motivation for the request is based upon a well-intentioned belief that relocation is best for Mrs. Steltenkamp. The evidence also overwhelmingly shows that the move is not motivated by a vindictive desire to interfere with the visitation rights of Mr. Russenberger.

In short, whether the new test proposed by Mrs. Steltenkamp is applied, or the old test is utilized, the first district should be

instructed to reevaluate its opinion affirming the trial court decision. This reevaluation will result in a reversal of the trial court decision denying Mrs. Steltenkamp's request for relocation.

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE: PART I: WHAT IS THE PROPER STANDARD TO BE APPLIED BY TRIAL COURTS WHEN A CUSTODIAL PARENT REQUESTS PERMISSION TO RELOCATE WITH THE MINOR CHILDREN?

PART II: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT MRS. STELTENKAMP'S RELOCATION REQUEST?

- I: EVOLUTION OF RELOCATION LAW (FLORIDA AND OTHER LEADING STATES).
- A. <u>D'ONOFRIO v. D'ONOFRIO</u>, 365 A.2d 27 (1976). LEADING RELOCATION CASE.

The New Jersey district court opinion, <u>D'Onofrio v. D'Onofrio</u>, 365 A.2d 27 (1976) is the case most often cited nationwide for its relocation analysis. The <u>D'Onofrio</u> court held that the custodial parent must demonstrate that a "real advantage" will result from the relocation with the children. <u>Id</u>. at 30. In order to determine "real advantage", the court directed the trial courts to consider the following:

- Likely capacity for improving the general quality of life for both the custodial parent and the children.
- 2. Evaluation of motives to determine whether the removal request is inspired primarily by a desire to defeat visitation.
  - 3. Whether the custodial parent is likely to comply with

substitute visitation.

- 4. The noncustodial parent's motives in resisting the removal with attention to financial considerations.
- 5. Whether there will be a realistic opportunity for visitation to preserve and foster the parental relationship with the noncustodial parent.

Id. at 30.

Under <u>D'Onofrio</u>, if the custodial parent could meet the "real advantage" test, the court noted that the move should not be prohibited simply because of the failure to maintain weekly visitation. <u>Id</u>. at 30. In support of this position, the court argued that longer uninterrupted visits requiring exclusive parental contact may serve the noncustodial relationship better than the typical weekly visitation which involves little responsibility. <u>Id</u>. at 30. The court also pointed out that since the noncustodial parent is free to leave the jurisdiction to seek better opportunities at any time, the custodial parent should be given the same opportunity.

The custodial parent, who bears the essential burden and responsibility for the children, is clearly entitled to the same option to seek a better life for herself and the children, particularly where the exercise of that option appears to be truly advantageous to their interests and provided that the parental interest can continue to be accommodated, even if by a different visitation arrangement than theretofore.

<u>Id</u>. at 30.

After applying this test, Mrs. D'Onofrio was allowed to relocate from New Jersey to South Carolina.

### B. ADOPTION OF D'ONOFRIO IN FLORIDA.

In 1985, Florida's third district court of appeal endorsed the D'Onofrio analysis. Matilla v. Matilla, 474 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). Prior to the Matilla decision, Judge Anstead relied upon D'Onofrio and several other cases from Michigan, New York, Massachusetts, and North Dakota in his Costa v. Costa, 429 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) dissent. 1

As Judge Anstead explained:

The gist of the holdings in these cases is that the court should utilize other means, such as increased summer visitation or a shift in the financial burden of visitation, to deal with the problem and reserve the power to bar moves for the extreme case.

Id. at 1254.

Florida law further evolved in 1989 in <u>DeCamp v. Hein</u>, 541 So. 2d 708 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). In <u>DeCamp</u>, the fourth district adopted the <u>D'Onofrio</u> test, and added two requirements. The two new requirements included a consideration of i) the costs of transportation, and ii) the best interests of the children. Later

D'Onofrio v. D'Onofrio, 144 N.J.Super. 200, 365 A.2d 27 (1976) aff'd, 144 N.J.Super. 352, 365 A.2d 716 (1976); Henry v. Henry, 119 Mich.App. 319, 326 N.W.2d 497 (Mich.App. 1983); Martinez v. Konczewski, 85 A.D.2d 717, 445 N.Y.S.2d 844 (1981); Hale v. Hale, 429 N.E.2d 340 (Mass.App.1981); Burich v. Burich, 314 N.W.2d 82 (N.D.1981).

that same year, the third district adopted the <u>Matilla-DeCamp</u> analysis and set the framework that this court adopted in <u>Mize v.</u> <u>Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993). See <u>Hill v. Hill</u> 548 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989).

Prior to the Mize Supreme Court decision, several Florida district courts addressed the relocation issue. Relocation law was confused and unclear. The confusion was addressed by Judge Anstead in Ferguson v. Baisley, 593 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Judge Anstead noted that relocation was a legal issue of great public importance requiring resolution by the state supreme court. He stressed that uniformity and clear guidelines were needed to assist the courts in relocation cases. The Ferguson dissent also is important inasmuch as it summarizes the key factors of Judge Schwartz's Hill concurring opinion. Judge Anstead explained that Judge Schwartz's Hill concurrence establishes the proper groundwork for the consideration of a relocation request. This groundwork includes the following:

- The relocation should ordinarily be approved if it is supported by a well-intentioned reason and not for a vindictive desire.
- 2. Children should live wherever the residence of the primary residential parent is located rather than by definition the less important location of the other parent.

- 3. To favor the home of the visitor (noncustodial parent) over the custodial parent is wholly misguided. This is particularly unjustified if the noncustodial parent is financially able to visit.
- 4. Since it is the child's welfare that is the concern, it make more sense to require the noncustodial parent to move.

Id. at 320.

C. FLORIDA'S FIRST SUPREME COURT RELOCATION DECISION: MIZE v. MIZE, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993).

Shortly after Judge Anstead raised the relocation issue as an issue of great public importance, the supreme court issued its first opinion on this issue. Mize v. Mize, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993). Mize successfully eliminated the line of district court decisions that found a presumption against removal. Unfortunately, however, Mize has provided limited and confusing guidance to the district and trial courts. The decision itself is inconsistent inasmuch as it appears to adopt the Hill six factor test while also adopting Judge Schwartz's Hill special concurrence. Judge Schwartz's special concurrence argues that the home of the residential parent, whether or not in Florida, is the most appropriate home for the children. The home of the primary residential parent will best serve the children's interest. He states:

So long as the parent who has been granted the

primary custody of the child desires to move for a well-intentioned reason and founded belief that relocation is best for that parent's - and, it follows, the child's - well being, rather than from a vindictive desire to interfere with the visitation rights of the other parent, the change in residence should ordinarily be approved.

<u>Id</u>. at 419.

This conclusion acknowledges that after a divorce two new family units are created. In one of those family units a parent has been designated as a primary residential parent and the other parent has been designated as the secondary residential parent. When considering the best interests of the children, the primary physical family relationship must be viewed as the family central and most important to the child's best interests. The primary physical family supplies the day to day routine for the child and the day to day emotional interaction for the child. These everyday ordinary contacts will form the child's character, psychological health, and value system. The family of the noncustodial parent will continue to be important to the child, however, the nature of that relationship will necessarily be different in that it is less intense and not as formative or influential as the home of the primary parent.

In short, Judge Schwartz's concurring opinion, as adopted by this court in <u>Mize</u>, provides a framework that will generally result in approval of a custodial parent's relocation request. In

general, as long as the decision is for a well-intentioned reason and not simply to interfere with visitation, the request should be approved. This presumption acknowledges that the primary residential parent has already been designated as the parent best equipped to serve the children's best interests.

The difficulty with <u>Mize</u> arises when the court then adopts the <u>Hill</u> majority decision requiring a review of six factors. Application of these six relocation factors will quite likely result in a decision denying a removal request, whereas the general rule presented by Judge Schwartz provides that the move should be allowed in most all cases. Furthermore, the trial courts and the district courts of appeal are indecisive as to how much weight to place upon each of the six factors and whether all six factors must be in favor of removal before the parent should be allowed to move.

First, it would be helpful to review each of the six factors. The first factor requires an analysis of whether the move will improve the quality of life for both the primary residential parent and the children. This factor directly conflicts with Judge Schwartz's concurrence. Judge Schwartz's concurrence simply provides that as long as the primary parent desires to move for a well-intentioned reason indicating that relocation is best for that parent's well-being, and not for a vindictive desire, it should be approved. Judge Schwartz's statement and his concurring opinion do

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