A 12-6-95

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CYNTHIA L. RUSSENBERGER, n/k/a CYNTHIA L. STELTENKAMP)

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO: 85,743 1ST DCA CASE NO: 95-00804

RAY DEAN RUSSENBERGER,

Respondent.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 27 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Depaty Clerk

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

> Crystal/Collins Spencer Florida Bar No. 558265

EMMANUEL, SHEPPARD & CONDON 30 South Spring Street Post Office Drawer 1271 Pensacola, Florida 32596 (Telephone: 904/433-6581)

Attorneys for Respondent

Ray Dean Russenberger

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Prior to this Court's decision of <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 621 So.2d 417 (1993), lower courts grappled with the difficult issue of determining when a custodial parent should be allowed to remove a child from the geographical area. Recognizing that there is no bright-line rule, the supreme court decision in <u>Mize</u> directs determination of this issue on a case by case basis by evaluating and weighing factors as enunciated in <u>Hill v.Hill</u>, 548 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989).

Following this court's decision in <u>Mize</u>, the first district court in <u>Russenberger v. Russenberger</u>, 654 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) interpreted <u>Mize</u> as creating a presumption in favor of relocation. The <u>Russenberger</u> court did not

interpret <u>Mize</u> as creating a per se rule favoring relocation.

A finding that <u>Mize</u> creates a per se rule would be in conflict with our state's strong public policy assuring that children will have frequent and continuing contact with both parents after separation and following dissolution of marriage and well founded psychological data.

In recognizing that <u>Mize</u> creates a presumption in favor or relocation, the Russenberger court interpreted Mize as placing a burden of proof on the parent opposing relocation when there is no relocation restriction contained in the marital settlement agreement or final judgment. The Russenberger court interpreted <u>Mize</u> as requiring the relocating parent to establish that the proposed relocation is not for a vindictive or improper motive and the new location would offer a quality of life for the children that is at least equal to the children's quality of life in the present location. After such a showing is made, the burden is then shifted to the noncustodial parent to establish that the proposed relocation is not in the children's best interests utilizing the Hill The Mize decision as interpreted by the first factors. district in Russenberger gives the Florida courts the needed guidance and will result in consistent holdings. Petitioner has failed to articulate convincing reasons to abrogate the Mize decision. The new test that the Petitioner proposes fails to acknowledge that Florida is a Shared Parental Responsibility state in which our legislature has declared its

clear intent. All decisions relating to custody and visitation for children shall be made in accordance with the best interests of the children. If a new test is deemed necessary in relocation matters, then this court should adopt the test as proposed by Justice Shaw in his concurring opinion in <u>Mize</u>.

Regardless of the test utilized, the denial of relocation in this case should be upheld. The trial court in <u>Russenberger</u> carefully weighed all of the evidence as required by this court in <u>Mize</u>. There is competent and substantial evidence to support the trial court's findings that the evidence did not support the relocation of the parties' minor children. The trial court's factual findings are shielded from attack and are presumed valid. The Petitioner has failed to meet her burden and has not clearly demonstrated that the trial court abused its discretion. The trial court's decision must stand.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE: PART I: WHAT IS THE PROPER STANDARD TO BE APPLIED BY TRIAL COURTS WHEN A CUSTODIAL PARENT REQUESTS PERMISSION TO RELOCATE WITH THE MINOR CHILDREN?

PART II: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT MRS. STELTENKAMP'S RELOCATION REQUEST.

- I. EVOLUTION OF RELOCATION LAW (FLORIDA AND OTHER LEADING STATES).
- A. <u>D'ONOFRIO V. D'ONOFRIO, 144 N. J. Super.200, 365 A.2d</u> 27 (1976). LEADING RELOCATION CASE.

The landmark case of <u>D'Onofrio v. D'Onofrio</u>, 144 N. J. Super 200, 365 A.2d 27 (1976) is the case most cited by courts in determining what test should be used to resolve relocation dilemmas. Petitioner's merits brief adequately lays out the

D'Onofrio test.

The facts in the D'Onofrio case are not similar to the facts in the Russenberger case. In D'Onofrio, the former wife took care of the children on a twenty-four hour basis and her income barely met the family's needs. Not only was she receiving minimal financial support from her former husband but she was also receiving very little assistance in the burden of raising the children. Additionally, the New Jersey Court found that she had genuinely attempted to maintain herself and the children in New Jersey but was unable to do so. Her move to South Carolina afforded her better employment, a more desirable place to live, and a large supportive family group including parents, siblings, cousins, aunts, uncles, nieces and nephews. Id. at 31-32. In weighing the non-custodial parent's rights, the court found that the former husband had played only a minimal role with the children, had never exercised overnight visitation with the children, and had seen them only one day a week in the home of his parents where he frequently left them during his visitation. Id. at 32.

B. ADOPTION OF D'ONOFRIO IN FLORIDA

In 1989, the Fourth District Court of Appeal addressed the issue of relocation in <u>Decamp v. Hein</u>, 541 So.2d 708 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Mr. Russenberger agrees with the Petitioner's assertion that <u>Decamp</u> adopted the <u>D'Onofrio</u> test but added two more requirements in accord with <u>Costa v. Costa</u>, 429 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). These factors, which are commonly

referred to as the <u>Hill</u> factors, were adopted by this Court in <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 621 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1993). See <u>Hill v. Hill</u>, 548 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989).

Admittedly, prior to this Court's pronouncement in <u>Mize</u>, the courts of Florida applied different standards as it related to relocation of residential parents. However, <u>Mize</u> now provides Florida courts with the appropriate framework within which to make proper decisions in relocation cases.

C. FLORIDA FIRST SUPREME COURT RELOCATION DECISION: MIZE V. MIZE, 621 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1993)

Mr. Russenberger does not agree with Petitioner's assertion that this Court's decision in Mize v. Mize, 621 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1993) has provided courts with limited and confusing guidance on the issue of relocation. Contrary to the Petitioner's assertion, the decision did not adopt in toto Judge Schwartz's concurring opinion in Hill v Hill, 548 So. 2d. 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989). Mize, 621 So.2d at 419. In the Mize decision, this Court acknowledges that there is no way to fashion a bright-line rule for determining when a move that will geographically separate a child from one of his or her parents is permissible. Id. This Court in recognizing that a determination must be made on a case by case basis, adopted the approach taken by the majority in the Hill decision. Id. at 419, 420.

Following this Court's pronouncement in Mize, several district courts have struggled with its analysis. See

Russenberger, 654 So.2d. 207; Tremblay v. Tremblay, 638 So.2d. 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). Both Tremblay and Russenberger interpret Mize to mean that where a relocating parent is acting in good faith, permission to relocate should generally be granted. Where the two courts differ is that the fourth district court in the Tremblay case may interpret Mize as creating a per se³ rule favoring relocation. The Russenberger court does not interpret Mize as creating a per se rule favoring relocation. Russenberger, 654 So. 2d at 214. The first district court in Russenberger interpreted Mize to require that

where a relocating parent is acting in good faith, a trial court must permit relocation if the best interests of the children, as determined based upon an analysis of the applicable facts using the Hill factors, will be served at least as well in the proposed location as in the present location.

<u>Id</u>.

Further, the court recognized that the presumption in favor of relocation expressed in <u>Mize</u> places a burden of proof on the parent opposing relocation. Accordingly, the first district held that in relocation cases involving joint custody in which the marital settlement agreement and final judgment contain no relocation restriction, <u>Mize</u> requires the relocating parent to establish: 1) the relocation is not for a vindictive or improper motive; and, 2) the new location would offer a

³Per se is defined in Black's Law Dictionary as meaning "by itself; simply as such; in its own nature without reference to its relation.... ". H. C. Black, <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u>, 1028 (Sp. 5th Ed. 1979).

quality of life for the child at least equal to the child's quality of life in the present location. Id. The first district found that "[i]f such a showing is made by the relocating parent, the burden is then shifted to the non-custodial parent to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the proposed relocation of a child is not in the child's best interests under the Hill factors." Id. If the non-custodial parent is unable to meet this burden, relocation should be permitted. Id. The Russenberger court held that the primary concern of the trial court must be the best interest of the child or children. Id. at 215 citing Mize, 621 So.2d at 420.

The interpretation that <u>Mize</u> does not create a *per se* rule is supported by the <u>Mize</u> concurring opinion of Chief Justice

Barkett. Chief Justice Barkett emphasized that the <u>Mize</u>

majority incorporates all relevant factors, including those outlined by Judge Nesbit in <u>Hill</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 420-421.

Moreover, Chief Justice Barkett recognized that there is strong public policy in Florida that the best interests of the children are served by frequent and continuing contact with both parents. Section 61.13(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1989). (Emphasis added).

In 1982, the Florida Legislature adopted the Shared Parental Responsibility Act4 which is codified in chapter 61,

⁴Ch. 82-96, Laws of Fla.

Florida Statutes and provides in part:

The court shall determine all matters relating to custody of each minor child of the parties in accordance with the best interest of the child.... It is the public policy of this state to assure that each minor child has frequent and continuing contact with both parents after the parents separate or the marriage of the parties is dissolved and to encourage parents to share the rights and responsibilities of child rearing . . .

§ 61.13(2)(b)1.,Fla. Stat. (1989). See also Senate Staff

Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, Chapter 82-96,

January 19, 1982.

Florida's public policy favoring frequent and continuing contact with both parents is well founded and consistent with widely recognized social and psychological data. Mize v. Mize, 621 So.2d at 423. In addition to the numerous studies cited by Justice Shaw in his concurring opinion, recent studies confirm that frequent interaction with both parents is crucial to a child's healthy psychological adjustment following a divorce.

J. Montgomery, Long distance visitation, Access in Family Law Cases; Some Creative Approaches, 5 Amer. J. Family L., 2 (Spring 1991).

Considerable research has focused on identifying factors that ameliorate or buffer the negative effects of divorce on children. One such factor identified is the maintenance of a frequent and supportive relationship with the non-custodial parent. Numerous studies have documented the benefit to children's well being of frequent, meaningful contact with their non-custodial parent. When children are denied frequent

and continuing access to their non-custodial parent the children suffer a profound sense of loss. Experience suggests that policy and intervention efforts to increase children's contact with their non-custodial parent after divorce should be a priority. S. Brogger, S. Wolchick, I. Sandler, B. Fogas and D. Szetina, Frequency of Visitation by Divorce Fathers:

Differences in Reports by Fathers and Mothers, 61 Amer. J. of Orthopsychiat. 448, 453 (July 1991)

Clearly, Florida does have a strong public policy for encouraging frequent and continuing contact with the non-custodial parent. §61.13(2)(b), Fla. Stat. Where the language is clear, the legislature must be understood to mean what it has plainly expressed and the courts have only the simple and obvious duty to enforce the law according to its terms.

VanPelt v. Hilliard, 78 So. 698, 694 (Fla. 1918). See also

Clark v. Kreidt, 199 So. 333, 336 (Fla. 1940) (The language of a statute may be so plain as to fix the legislative intent and leave no room for interpretation or construction); Streeter v.

Sullivan, 509 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1987) (where a statute is unambiguous, it must be given its plain and obvious meaning). The first district's interpretation of Russenberger is consistent with our legislative mandate and this Court should not adopt a per se rule favoring relocation.

Petitioner's argument which in essence adopts in toto

Judge Schwartz's concurring opinion in <u>Hill</u> ignores this

state's public policy and legislative mandate. Contrary to her

assertion, it does not appear that this Court adopted in Mize Judge Schwartz's entire Hill concurrence. Mize, 621 So.2d at Rather, this Court announced that in making the ultimate decision, trial courts must consider and weigh the following 1. Whether the move would be likely to improve the general quality for both the primary residential spouse and the children; 2. Whether the motive for seeking the move is for the express purpose of defeating visitation; 3. Whether the custodial parent, once out of the jurisdiction, would be likely to comply with any substitute visitation arrangements; 4. Whether the substitute visitation would be adequate to foster a continuing and meaningful relationship between the child or children and the non-custodial parent; 5. Whether the costs and transportation are financially affordable by one or both of the parents; and, 6. Whether the move is in the best interests of the child. (This sixth requirement is a generalized summary of the previous five). Mize, 621 So.2d at 420 citing Hill, 548 So.2d at 706. (Footnote omitted).

The argument raised by Petitioner that application of these six factors will quite likely result in decisions denying removal requests is unfounded. In examining the post-Mize appellate decisions, all of which utilize this six factor test, the custodial parent and children have been allowed to relocate in the majority of cases.

The following District Courts of Appeal decisions allowed relocation:

- 1. <u>Biaz v. Biaz</u>, 627 So.2d 1260 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993) (Third district court held that the former wife proved the <u>Mize/Hill</u> factors and allowed the wife to relocate to El Salvador);
- 2. <u>Card v. Card</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1945 (Fla. 5th DCA August 25, 1995) (Fifth district court examined all the <u>Mize/Hill</u> factors and found that the evidence favored relocation and Wife's request to relocate was granted);
- 3. <u>Cifci v. Munoz</u>, 627 So.2d 67 (5th DCA 1993) (Trial court's determination was consistent with <u>Mize</u>. The fifth district court upheld the permitted relocation);
- 4. <u>Stockburger v. Stockburger</u>, 633 So.2d 1140 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (The Fifth district court in applying the <u>Mize/Hill</u> multi-factor test concluded that relocation should be allowed);
- 5. Zak v. Zak, 629 So.2d 187 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (The second district court after weighing the Mize/Hill factors allowed the relocation);
- 6. <u>Tremblay v. Tremblay</u>, 638 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (Fourth district court remanded the case to the trial court to make a determination concerning relocation under <u>Mize</u>. The trial court, after weighing all the <u>Hill</u> factors as articulated in <u>Mize</u>, entered an order dated February 2, 1995 allowing for the relocation);
- 7. <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 623 So.2d 636 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) (On remand from this Court's decision, the fifth district court granted the former wife's petition to relocate).

There are two cases in which the information on the trial court's decision could not be confirmed but appear to allow relocation. These cases are: 1. Battistella v. Dodge, 627 So.2d 619 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993) (It appears that the third district court per curiam affirmed the trial court's allowance of a relocation pursuant to the Mize decision); and, 2. O'Kane v. O'Kane, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2170 (Fla. 3rd DCA September 20, 1995) (It appears from the style of the case that the third district court affirmed the trial court's granting of relocation).

There have been only three cases in which the appellate courts have upheld a trial court's denial of relocation:

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